1	IN THE SUPREME COU	RT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
2		
3	ANDREW YOUNG,) NO. 84412 Electronically Filed
4	Appellant,) Sep 01 2022 09:13 a.m.) Elizabeth A. Brown
5 6	VS.) Clerk of Supreme Court
7)
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	
9	Respondent.	
10	······································)
11	APPELLAN	T'S OPENING BRIEF
12	JASON R. MARGOLIS, ESQ.	ALEXANDER CHEN
13	625 South Sixth Street	District Attorney
14	Las Vegas. Nevada	
15		AARON FORD
16		Attorney General for the State of Nevada
17	ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT	ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT
18	ANDREW YOUNG	THE STATE OF NEVADA
19 20		
20		
22		
23		
24		
25		
26		
27		
28		
		Docket 84412 Document 2022-27477

1	
2

1	
1	JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
2	This is a direct appeal from a conviction following a jury trial in Department
3	VI of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada. The Amended
5	Judgment of Conviction was filed on March 8, 2022. AA Vol. I at 001-008. The
6	
7	Notice of Appeal was filed March 15, 2022. AA Vol. I at 023-024. This Court has
8	appellate jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 4(b)(1)(a) and NRS 177.015(3).
9	ROUTING STATEMENT
10	
11	This appeal is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant
12	to NRAP 17(b)(1) because it is a post-conviction appeal in a case involving a
13 14	conviction for a Category A felony offense.
15	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
16	
17	On February 22, 2022, a Third Amended Superseding Indictment was filed
18	against the Defendant charging him with Battery with use of a Deadly Weapon
19	Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm and Attempt Murder with use of a Deadly
20	
21	Weapon. AA Vol. I at 739-747.
22	STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
23	Appellant Andrew Young was convicted of the crime of Battery with a
24	
25	Deadly weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm due to an alleged attack of
26	victim Robert Will with a large rock. Mr. Young was convicted of striking Mr.
27	Will about the head multiple times with this rock, leaving him with significant
28	

Ш

3

injuries. Mr. Will suffered a traumatic brain injury (hereinafter "TBI") and was unable to identify Mr. Young as the assailant.

Surveillance video that appears to depict the attack-which occurred late at 4 5 night at a bus stop in front of the Paris Hotel-is very grainy and it is 6 exceptionally difficult to see the assailant clearly. The State, by necessity, based its 7 entire case upon the eyewitness identification provided by witness Laresha Moore 8 9 and a collection of surveillance videos that constituted the bulk of the evidence 10 used to convict Mr. Young of the severed theft charges, which were originally 11 12 joined with the battery offense(s). Ms. Moore testified at trial and withstood cross 13 examination well but acknowledged her identification had limitations. (AA Vol. II 14 at 333-335). Corroboration of her account comes exclusively from the surveillance 15 16 videos and images which undergirded the theft trial which preceded this one. 17 These surveillance videos and still images-which were admitted following 18 19 severance of counts pursuant to the State's Motion in Limine to admit the same by 20 Res Gestae, effectively rendered the victory in severing counts a Pyrrhic one-it 21 22 no longer was of any meaningful consequence. The State presented its case simply 23 and succinctly-the man in the surveillance videos and stills is Mr. Young-this 24 has been established. If the jury was convinced by the State's presentation of 25 26 evidence that the man Laresha Moore saw and testified to was one and the same as 27 the man depicted in the various surveillance videos and images which 28 affirmatively showed Mr. Young (admittedly doing nothing illegal), then the jury

7

20

1

could convict Mr. Young of Battery with a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm.

Ultimately, following a two-plus day trial, the jury convicted Mr. Young of Battery with a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm but acquitted 6 him of the corresponding Attempt Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon charge. (AA Vol. I at 748-749). 8

9 Polling of the jury following rendering of the verdict established that the 10 jury was convinced that Mr. Young was the person depicted in the surveillance 11 12 videos and images-but remained unconvinced of any evidence put forth by the 13 State of Nevada which demonstrated his intent to kill the victim Mr. Will, and 14 certainly did not find an intention to kill proven beyond a reasonable doubt that 15 16 would enable them to convict Mr. Young of that count. This split-decision, while 17 favorable to Mr. Young, is also somewhat odd given the nature and state of the 18 19 evidence the jurors heard.

The jury convicted Mr. Young primarily based on identifying him as the 21 man in surveillance videos from Walgreens, Walmart, and various other casinos 22 23 and retail establishments. This identification was borrowed and bootstrapped by 24 the prosecution given the difficulty in identifying Mr. Will's assailant from the 25 26 existing Paris surveillance and the available Fusion Watch images of the 27 contemporaneous attack itself. 28

1	As such, the admission of these clearer, sharper surveillance images of Mr.
2	Young, images which depicted him innocently moving about the Strip, engaged in
3	no criminal activity, waiting in elevators, entering retail establishments, etc.,
5	enabled the jury to convict Mr. Young by proxy. This is insufficient to prove his
6	
7	identity as Robert Will's assailant beyond a reasonable doubt as is demanded by
8	Nevada and federal law.
9	LEGAL STANDARD
10 11	ARGUMENT
11	
12	The Nevada Supreme Court should reverse Andrew Young's conviction for
14	Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm
15	because the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that it was, in fact,
16	Andrew Young that struck victim Robert Will with a rock following a
17	disagreement at the bus stop. The Nevada Supreme Court should rule this way
18 19	
20	because the State of Nevada failed to prove the identity of Mr. Will's attacker at
21	trial. Mr. Will was unable to identify Mr. Young and consequently did not testify
22	at trial.
23	The legal standard of an insufficient evidence direct appeal can be daunting
24	
25	and difficult to clear. That said, each and every element of the crime of conviction
26	must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt by competent and admissible evidence.
27 28	Here, even assuming that the State of Nevada effectively proved that the rock, due
20	to its size, was a deadly weapon, and conceding that victim Robert Will did, in
	C

fact, sustain substantial bodily harm, the State still must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Andrew Young was the man wielding the rock.

1

2

- The evidence presented to the jury on that element of the offense consisted 4 5 of one percipient witness-Laresha Moore-and a collection of videos from 6 different days during the summer of the attack, oftentimes several weeks separate 7 from the event involving Mr. Will, which purported to show a man believed to be 8 9 Mr. Young. (Appellant has filed a Motion for this Court to enter an Order directing 10 the district court to produce Trial Exhibits 1-34, 36, 37 and 44). These videos and 11 12 still photos depicting images of an individual known to be Andrew Young at or 13 around this time were testified to by security personnel and custodians of record 14 from the various retail establishments and casinos. (Appellant has filed a Motion 15 16 for this Court to enter an Order directing the district court to produce Trial 17 Exhibits 1-34, 36, 37 and 44). This was the very same evidence utilized by the 18 19 State of Nevada in its prosecution of Mr. Young for the financial crimes (i.e., the 20 separated counts) which were severed from the counts of violence involving Mr. 21 Will. (Appellant has filed a Motion for this Court to enter an Order directing the 22 23 district court to produce Trial Exhibits 1-34, 36, 37 and 44). 24
- Pursuant to a Motion in Limine to Admit Photos, the State was permitted to
 use this evidence, which was critical in the State's conviction of Mr. Young for a
 host of theft offenses, to demonstrate his identity. (AA Vol. IV at 710-730).
 Implicit in the State's argument is the admission that the video of the attack on Mr.

1	Will is grainy, of poor quality, and from a distance which makes the clear and
2	confident identification of Mr. Young nearly impossible, if not inarguably
3	improbable. (AA Vol. IV at 710-730). But for the admission of these images,
4	Improbable. (AAA vol. 1v at 710-750). But for the dumission of these images,
5	none of which depict Mr. Young doing anything illegal or untoward, the State
6 7	would be unable to corroborate the lone percipient witness, Laresha Moore, in her
8	identification of Mr. Young as Mr. Will's assailant. (AA Vol. II at 319-320).
9	Without these photos, the State of Nevada would be in utterly complete reliance
10	Without these photos, the state of Nevada would be in utterly complete remance
11	upon the identification of Mr. Young within the testimony of Laresha Moore. (AA
12	Vol. II at 319-320). Ms. Moore was not and is not to be believed.
13	
14	I. That there was insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Young of the crime of Battery with a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial
15	Bodily Harm beyond a reasonable doubt.
16	The standard of review when analyzing the sufficiency of evidence in a
17 18	criminal case is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to
19	(1
20	the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements
21	of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Grey v. State, Nev, 178 P.3d 154,
22	162 (2008) (citing Nolan v. State, 122 Nev. 363, 377, 132 P.3d 564, 573 (2006)).
23	The Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution "protects the
24	
25	accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every
26	fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." In re Winship,
27	207 L = 250 - 264 (1070) (TT = 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1
28	397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970). "[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the
	evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact

could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." 1 2 Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979) (emphasis in original); see also 3 Payne v. Borg, 982 F.2d 335, 338 (9th Cir. 1992). "[F]aced with a record of 4 5 historical facts that supports conflicting inferences," the court "must presume-6 even if it does not affirmatively appear in the record-that the trier of fact resolved 7 any such conflicts in favor of the prosecution, and must defer to that resolution." 8 9 Jackson, 443 U.S. at 326; see also McDaniel v. Brown, 558 U.S. 120, 133 (2010) 10 (reaffirming Jackson standard). 11

Ms. Moore, a single witness, is enough to sustain a conviction, including
 this one. Undersigned counsel has certainly been privy to convictions premised
 upon a lone witness identification. Of course, this is not a position any prosecutor
 would envy and, most pertinently for Mr. Young, the credibility of the percipient
 eyewitness becomes paramount in the jury evaluating the evidence and rendering a
 just verdict. Here, however, Ms. Moore was not an ideal witness.

20 Ms. Moore lied about several things to investigating officers, including her 21 name, identifying herself as one of her family members. (AA Vol. II at 325). She 22 23 refused to identify the person she was with on the Strip of the night of the attack 24 (thereby eliminating the possibility of obtaining corroboration of her account or 25 26 contradiction). (AA Vol. II at 327). Ms. Moore is a convicted felon and was 27 actually serving time in custody at the time she was called to the stand to testify to 28 the identification of Mr. Young. (AA Vol. II at 325). Furthermore, Ms. Moore was forthright about the limitations of her identification on the stand, acknowledging she had been drinking, it was late, it was dark, and so forth, albeit reiterating that she felt confident enough to testify in Court as to Mr. Young being the person that struck Mr. Will. (AA Vol. II at 332).

1

2

3

4

5

6 Even with the complained of still images and video surveillance clips from 7 retail establishments, Appellant avers the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable 8 9 doubt an essential element of the crime. Namely the State of Nevada failed to 10 prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Young was the individual that battered 11 12 Mr. Will with a deadly weapon, the rock. In the absence of this proof no 13 reasonable jury could have convicted Mr. Young and his conviction must be 14 15 overturned in the interest of avoiding a miscarriage of justice.

16 The only evidence which corroborates Ms. Moore's timely and 17 contemporaneous identification of Mr. Young as Mr. Will's assailant consists of 18 19 the testimony of a handful of custodians of record that had assembled surveillance 20 images of Mr. Young from retail establishments and casinos along the Strip 21 22 corridor earlier that summer. (Appellant has filed a Motion for this Court to enter 23 an Order directing the district court to produce Trial Exhibits 1-34, 36, 37 and 44). 24 In some cases, the images were weeks and even months prior to the event 25 26 involving Mr. Will at the bus stop. (Appellant has filed a Motion for this Court to 27 enter an Order directing the district court to produce Trial Exhibits 1-34, 36, 37 28 and 44). These are not contemporaneous images of Mr. Young, captured on the

same day or preceding day, that were being compared to the grainy Fusion video allegedly showing the attack.

This corroborative evidence fails to strengthen the identification made by Ms. Moore, which standing alone, Mr. Young submits falls short of the standard of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Ms. Moore's identification is impacted by the series of lies she told officers in her initial report of the incident. (AA Vol. II at 326-329). Each and every element of the crime of conviction needs to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt, including the identity of the alleged perpetrator. The evidence put forth by the State of Nevada to identify Mr. Young as the person responsible for Mr. Will's injuries consisted of the following witnesses: Security Supervisor Francisco Alemar (AA Vol. II at 277-294); eyewitness Laresha Moore (AA Vol. II at 309-339); Amber Stringer with the LVMPD Fusion Watch Section (AA Vol. II at 339-365); William Roed, Security Investigator for Cosmopolitan Las Vegas (AA Vol. II at 365-376); Detective Sandeep Liske, LVMPD (AA Vol. II at 377-389); and Detective Byrd, LVMPD (AA Vol. III at 404-474). All of these witnesses with the exception of Laresha Moore identified Mr. Young solely from surveillance images from days or weeks prior to the alleged attack, leaving Ms. Moore the sole percipient witness. (Appellant has filed a Motion for this Court to enter an Order directing the district court to produce Trial Exhibits 1-34, 36, 37 and 44).

Each of these witnesses and the substance of their testimony regarding Mr. Young's identity is critical in evaluating the credibility of the State's evidence of the identification and determining whether a reasonable jury should have found Mr. Young guilty.

6

7

17

1

2

3

4

5

Security Supervisor Francisco Alemar

Mr. Alemar testified that, as a function of his employment as a security 8 9 supervisor, he would routinely review surveillance video footage of incidents 10 occurring on or adjacent to Paris Casino. (AA Vol. II at 278-281). Mr. Alemar 11 12 said that he was given an approximate time for the incident by an investigating 13 detective, as well as a description of the subject involved (emphasis added), and 14 that he started going back from the arrival of medical on the scene to attempt to 15 16 identify the subject. (AA Vol. II at 278-285).

Mr. Alemar continued by stating that he then requested surveillance footage 18 19 from the neighboring Planet Hollywood Casino, telling the jury that he did so in an 20 attempt to see if he could follow the subject as he left the bus stop. (AA Vol. II at 21 285-286). Mr. Alemar further testified that the subject never entered the Paris 22 23 Casino, (AA Vol. II at 286). As such, the images obtained from the exterior 24 surveillance cameras outside the Paris provided the clearest photographs he 25 26 possessed. (AA Vol. II at 287). The images are grainy, nonspecific, and facial 27 features are very difficult to discern from the distance the cameras are situated, in 28 the middle of the night.

1	Finally, Mr. Alemar testified that he was able to follow the subject believed
2	to be Mr. Young to the area in front of the entrance to a nearby CVS—but there
3	
4	were no cameras pointed at the vicinity of the entrance to the CVS, and Mr.
5	Alemar admitted he did not have access to corresponding CVS surveillance
6 7	footage. (AA Vol. II at 287-288). Effectively, Mr. Alemar's testimony in sum
8	advanced the notion that a black man at the bus stop—alleged to be Andrew
9	Young by Detective Trent Byrd—is the same black man that ambles near the Paris
10	I dung by Detective Trent Byrd—Is the same black man that anotes near the runs
11	and outside the CVS entrance in the ten to twenty minutes afterward. (AA Vol. II
12	at 292-294). This is insufficient and ineffective corroboration of Laresha Moore's
13	
14	eyewitness account and identification of Mr. Young, if it can be considered
15	corroborative at all by this Court.
16	Eyewitness Laresha Moore
17	
18	The State of Nevada is extremely reliant upon the credibility and accuracy
19	of the eyewitness identification provided by percipient witness Laresha Moore. At
20	one point during the taking of her voluntary statement, investigating detectives
21	one point during the taking of her voluntary statement, investigating deteenves
22	make plain just how important Ms. Moore is to the case by stating affirmatively
23	that she is "the only witness to this incident." (AA Vol. II at 326). As the only
24	
25	percipient witness to the assault of Mr. Will at the bus stop, each and every
26	subsequent witness called by the State to "identify" Mr. Young is called in large
27	
28	part to buttress and strengthen Ms. Moore's account and to make the jury more
	comfortable in looking past the credibility concerns raised by Mr. Young at trial.

1	First and foremost, Ms. Moore's credibility is suspect and there are a host of
2	reasons why the jury should have viewed her testimony with skepticism. Ms.
3	
4	Moore is a convicted felon. (AA Vol. II at 325). Ms. Moore identified herself as
5	someone else when she called 911 to report the incident involving Mr. Will. (AA
6 7	Vol. II at 327-328). Ms. Moore testified under oath before the jury that she
8	purposely misidentified herself because she had an active warrant out for her arrest
9 10	on the evening of the incident. (AA Vol. II at 325).
11	Moreover, on many issues related to the substance of the attack, Ms. Moore
12	was unable (or unwilling) to provide crucially relevant information, despite
13	(AA Vol
14	testifying that she was two to three feet from the attack when it occurred. (AA Vol.
15	II at 327-328). Ms. Moore could not identify which hand the attacker wielded the
16 17	rock with. (AA Vol. II at 327-328). Ms. Moore repeatedly refused to identify her
18	companion she with, despite repeatedly being asked for this information by
19	investigators. (AA Vol. II at 327-328). Ms. Moore was unclear about what the
20 21	rock-wielding assailant was wearing as well, surmising they could have been pants
22	or shorts, before finally settling on shorts. (AA Vol. II at 329).
23	Despite allocadly seeing Mr. Young earlier that some day on the sity hus
24	Despite allegedly seeing Mr. Young earlier that same day on the city bus,
25	Ms. Moore testified she could not remember what he was wearing specifically;
26	whether it was the same thing he had been wearing on the bus earlier that day; or
27	what kind of shape the appoilant had on Ma Maara seemed to have missed more
28	what kind of shoes the assailant had on. Ms. Moore seemed to have missed more
	than she saw and to have forgotten more than she remembered. (AA Vol. II at 329-
	14

330). Pertinently, she did distinctly recall Detective Byrd telling her she was the
only witness to the event, but felt this had no impact on her testimony. (AA Vol.
II at 331).

5 6

Amber Stringer, LVMPD Fusion Watch Section

Ms. Stringer is employed with LVMPD in the Fusion Watch section and she 7 is responsible for managing and assembling as needed much of the real-time 8 9 footage captured by Las Vegas Strip Fusion Watch surveillance cameras 10 positioned at heavily trafficked area along the Las Vegas Strip. (AA Vol. II at 339-11 12 340). There are more than 400 Fusion Watch cameras in the Las Vegas Valley 13 today, and more than 200 of those are strategically placed along the tourist 14 corridor on the Las Vegas Strip. (AA Vol. II at 341-342). 15

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