IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ANDREW YOUNG,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Sep 29 2022 09:49 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Case No. 84412

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JASON R. MARGOLIS, ESQ. Nevada Bar #012439 625 South Sixth Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 385-9777 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm Young's JOC. Young alleges two grounds for which he believes his conviction should be overturned.

First, Young alleges that the State failed to prove that Young committed the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. However, the jury convicted Young of Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm after watching the surveillance videos of the case, listening to all the evidence presented at trial, and applying the law to the facts of this case. Thus, Young's argument is without merit.

Second, Young alleges that the district court committed reversable error in granting the State's Res Gestae Motion. However, Young fails to explain why the district court erred in granting this motion. Further, even if Young asserted any error, the district court correctly granted the State's Motion. Therefore, this Court should affirm Young's JOC.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT YOUNG

Young alleges that his conviction was based on insufficient evidence and that the State failed to prove that Young committed the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. AOB, at 8.

The standard of review for sufficiency of the evidence upon appeal is whether the jury, acting reasonably, could have been convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Edwards v. State</u>, 90 Nev. 255, 258-259, 524 P.2d 328, 331 (1974). In reviewing a claim of insufficient evidence, the relevant inquiry is "whether, after reviewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Origel-Candid v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 378, 381, 956 P.2d 1378, 1380 (1998), (quoting <u>Koza v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 245, 250, 681 P.2d 44, 47 (1984)); <u>See also Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 2789 (1979). "Where there is substantial evidence to support a jury verdict, it [the verdict] will not be disturbed on appeal." <u>Smith v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 1269, 927 P.2d 14, 20 (1996); <u>Kazalyn v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 67, 71, 825 P.2d 578, 581 (1992); <u>Bolden v. State</u>, 97 Nev. 71, 73, 624 P.2d 20, 20 (1981).

Moreover, "it is the jury's function, not that of the court, to assess the weight of the evidence and determine the credibility of the witnesses." <u>Origel-Candido</u>, 114 Nev. at 381, 956 P.2d at 1380 (quoting <u>McNair v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 53, 56, 825 P.2d 571, 573 (1992)); <u>see also Culverson v. State</u>, 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221 (1979) (the Court held it is the function of the jury to weigh the credibility of the identifying witnesses); <u>Azbill v. Stet</u>, 88 Nev. 240, 252, 495 P.2d 1064, 1072 (1972) <u>cert. denied</u>, 429 U.S. 895, 97 S. Ct. 257 (1976) (In all criminal proceedings, the weight and sufficiency of the evidence are questions for the jury; its verdict will not be disturbed if there is evidence to support it and the evidence will not be weighed by an Appellate Court). This does not require this Court to decide whether "it believes that the evidence at the trial established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. at 319-20, 99 S. Ct. at 2789 (quoting <u>Woodby v. INS</u>, 385 U.S. 895, 87 S. Ct. 483, 486 (1966)). This standard thus preserves the fact finder's role and responsibility "[to fairly] resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts." <u>Id</u>. at 319, 99 S. Ct. at 2789.

A jury is free to rely on both direct and circumstantial evidence in returning its verdict. <u>Wilkins v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 367, 609 P.2d 309 (1980). This Court has consistently held that circumstantial evidence alone may sustain a conviction. <u>Deveroux v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 388, 391, 610 P.2d 722, 724 (1980) (*citing* <u>Crawford v.</u> <u>State</u>, 92 Nev. 456, 552 P.2d 1378 (1976); <u>see also</u> <u>Mulder v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 1, 15, 992 P.2d 845, 853 (2000) ("The trier of fact determines the weight and credibility to give conflicting testimony.").

Here, Young claims that the evidence supporting his identification was insufficient. AOB, at 10. He argues Ms. Moore's credibility is suspect and therefore, she was not to be believed. AOB, at 14. He further argues that all other witnesses the State called were only there to buttress and strengthen Ms. Moore's credibility. AOB, at 13. Finally, he argues that even with Ms. Moore's testimony and the surveillance videos and photos, the State still failed to prove that Young was the individual that attacked Will beyond a reasonable doubt. AOB, at 10.

At trial, it was up to the jury to assess Ms. Moore's credibility. The jury heard

Ms. Moore explain how Young became angry with Will and ultimately picked up a rock and hit Will with it. 2 AA 309. Ms. Moore testified that she had seen Young earlier that night on the bus. 2 AA 315. Ms. Moore was able to assess Young's physical characteristics and remembered Young having missing teeth and being cockeyed. 2 AA 316, 321. Ultimately, Ms. Moore was able to identify Young out of a lineup as the man who attacked Will. 2 AA 330. At trial, Ms. Moore was also able to identify Young in other photographs. 2 AA 332.

Young attempts to argue that Ms. Moore is not to be believed based on a "series of lies" she told to police and because she is a convicted felon. AOB, at 11, 14. However, when Ms. Moore testified at trial, Young had the ability to cross-examine her about these lies. The jury heard that Ms. Moore lied about her name because she had an active warrant and was made aware that she is a convicted felon. 2 AA 325. However, the jury also heard that Ms. Moore did not feel pressured to make an identification at the lineup. 2 AA 331. During jury instructions, the court instructed the jury on credibility. The instruction read:

The credibility or believability of a witness should be determined by his manner upon the stand, his relationship to the parties, his fears, motives, interests, or feelings, his opportunity to observe the matter to which he testified, the reasonableness of his statements and the strength or weakness of his recollections. If you believe that a witness has lied about any material fact in the case, you may disregard the entire testimony of that witness or any portion of his testimony, which is not proved by other evidence.

3 AA 496. All of Young's claims regarding Ms. Moore's credibility were addressed

during the trial and the jury was able to consider her credibility when reaching its decision. This court "generally presumes that juries follow the district court orders and instructions." <u>Summers v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1326, 133, 148 P.3d 778, 783 (2006). Therefore, this court should assume that the jury followed those instructions when they found Young guilty.

In addition to Ms. Moore's testimony, the jury also relied on other witnesses to identify that Young was the person who attacked Will. Mr. Alemar, security supervisor at Paris, was able to pull surveillance footage of the attack. 2 AA 280. Further, Stringer and William Roed, Security Investigator for The Cosmopolitan, were able to pull surveillance footage that shows Young before and after the attack. 2 AA 345, 367. Finally, the jury was able to compare the footage from the attack to other photos of Young through Detective Liske and Detective Byrd. 2 AA 380, 428.

Credibility regarding identification is precisely the type of determination that a jury is in the best position to make. <u>See Burnside</u>, 131 Nev. At 390-91, 352 P.3d at 641 (explaining the jury evaluates the weight of a witness's identification testimony). Both the State and Young provided the jury with different explanations of the perpetrator's identity. When considering this evidence and left to make the ultimate determination, the jury decided the State met its burden and established Young's identity beyond a reasonable doubt.¹ Based on the evidence presented at trial, a jury could reasonably decide Young was the perpetrator of the offense. Therefore, this Court should find that there was sufficient evidence to support the jury's decision.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN GRANTING THE STATE'S RES GESTAE MOTION.

Young alleges that, had the district court not granted the State's Res Gestae Motion, the outcome of the trial would have been different.²

A. Young never makes any arguments that the district court actually erred in granting the States Res Gestae Motion.

Young alleges that if the court had ruled differently, the outcome at trial would have been different. AOB, at 23. However, Young never argues why the district court erred in granting the State's Motion. It is the "appellant's responsibility to present relevant authority and cogent argument; issues not so presented need not be addressed by this court." <u>Maresca v. State</u>, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987). Instead, Young argues that if the court had not granted the State's Motion, the State would have had to rely on Ms. Moore's testimony and credibility. AOB, at 23.

¹ Young's only allegation is that the State failed to prove that Young was the person who attacked Will. AOB, at 6. Young seems to concede that there was a battery, the rock used was a deadly weapon, and Will did suffer substantial bodily harm. <u>Id</u>. ² Young alleges that Judge Bluth was the one to commit error, however, Judge Trujillo ruled on both the Motion to Sever and the Motion to Admit Evidence Under

Res Gestae. 1 AA 38-39. 1 AA 42-44. Judge Bluth presided over this trial. 1 AA 46.

Therefore, because Young never addresses any arguments as to why the court erred, this Court should not address this issue.

B. The district court did not err in granting State's Res Gestae Motion.

Even if Young did make a cogent argument, the district court still did not abuse its discretion when granting the State's motion. The decision to admit or exclude evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed unless manifestly wrong. <u>Wesley v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 503, 512, 916 P.2d 793, 799 (1996). Generally, evidence of other acts is inadmissible where it is used to show that a defendant has the propensity to commit the crime charged. NRS 48.045(2). However, evidence of an uncharged crime "which is so closely related to an act in controversy or a crime charged that an ordinary witness cannot describe the act in controversy or the crime charged without referring to the other act or crime" is admissible. NRS 48.035(3).

NRS 48.035 provides as follows:

NRS 48.035 Exclusion of relevant evidence on grounds of prejudice, confusion or waste of time.

1. Although relevant, evidence is not admissible if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of confusion of the issues or of misleading the jury.

2. Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by considerations of undue delay, waste of time or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

3. Evidence of another act or crime which is so closely related to an act in controversy or a crime charged that an ordinary witness cannot describe the act in controversy or the crime charged without referring to the other act or crime shall not be excluded, but at the request of an interested party, a cautionary instruction shall be given explaining the reason for its admission.

This long-standing principle of res gestae provides that the State is entitled to present, and the jury is entitled to hear, "the complete story of the crime." <u>Allen v.</u> <u>State</u>, 92 Nev. 318, 549 P.2d 1402 (1976).

The Nevada Supreme Court has explained that, where the doctrine of res gestae is invoked:

[The] determinative analysis is not a weighing of the prejudicial effect of evidence of other bad acts against the probative value of that evidence...the controlling question is whether witnesses can describe the crime charged without referring to related uncharged acts. If the court determines that testimony relevant to the charged crime cannot be introduced without reference to uncharged acts, it must not exclude the evidence of the uncharged acts.

State v. Shade, 111 Nev. 887, 894, 900 P.2d 327, 331 (1995) (emphasis added). Indeed, res gestae evidence cannot be excluded solely because of its prejudicial nature. Shade, 111 Nev. at 894 n.1, 900 P.2d at 331 n.1.

The district court granted the State's Motion to Admit Certain Evidence Under the Doctrine of Res Gestae, or in the Alternative, State's Motion to Admit Evidence Related to Other Crimes. The court reasoned that these were to be admitted because they were the only way Detective Byrd was able to prepare a Declaration of Arrest for Young. 1 AA 43. Specially, the court pointed to the surveillance footage and body cam footage from the Walmart on July 8, 2020, as being crucial to confirming the identity of Young. <u>Id</u>. Therefore, the court allowed the State to introduce photos or videos from the summer months of 2020 so that Detective Byrd and other officers could identify Young. <u>Id</u>.

The court was aware of potential prejudicial effects of utilizing certain angles of the surveillance and body cam footage. <u>Id</u>. Therefore, the court instructed the State to sanitize each photo and video to ensure that no criminal conduct was shown at trial. <u>Id</u>. Further, the court required that witnesses were only permitted to discuss identity without reference to criminal conduct. 1 AA 44. The court believed that this sanitation of the photos and videos would remove any prejudice against Young. <u>Id</u>.

The introduction of these videos and photos of Young during the summer of 2020 were necessary to this case. As the district court found, these videos and photos were necessary to show how detectives ultimately identified Young as the suspect. Further, these videos and photos did not prejudice Young in any way since they never depicted him engaging in any criminal conduct. Therefore, the district court properly granted the State's Motion to Admit Certain Evidence Under the Doctrine of Res Gestae, or in the Alternative, State's Motion to Admit Evidence Related to Other Crimes.

C. The photos and videos admitted should not be considered "bad acts" under NRS 48.045(2).

Young references the inadmissibility of prior bad acts to show propensity under 48.045(2). AOB, at 21. However, the State disagrees that these photos and videos fall under NRS 48.045(2). NRS 48.045(2) provides as follows:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

Here, these photos and videos do not portray Young engaging in any crime, wrongs, or acts. Young does not contest he is doing anything illegal in these videos and photos. AOB, at 4 & 8. Further, Young concedes that he is engaged in "mundane, routine, and ultimately legal conduct" in these videos. AOB, at 17. The State ensured that these videos and photos complied with the court's order to eliminate prejudice. Further, the court issued a limiting instruction before these witnesses testified regarding the videos that read:

Evidence such as video surveillance and photographs of the Defendant, other than that for which he is on trial for, if believed, are not to be received and may not be considered by you to be prove that he is a person of bad character or to prove that he has a disposition to commit crimes. Such evidence is received and may be considered by you only to for the limited purpose of proving the Defendant's identity, appearance or likeness during the summer of 2020. You must weigh this evidence in the same manner as you do all other evidence in the case.

s377. As such, the jury was aware that they were only to use these videos and photos for identity purposes. As previously discussed, it is presumed that juries follow those instructions. <u>Summers</u>, 122 Nev. at 783. Therefore, this court should assume that the jury followed this instruction when deciding their verdict.

Even if this Court feels that the images constitute those described in NRS 48.045(2), the evidence still should have been admitted. Admission of Young's identification and photos is precisely the type of non-propensity use of prior acts contemplated by NRS 48.045(2). The evidence was simply Young engaging in regular everyday activities. All the video and photos come from locations that the jurors would expect to have cameras. Therefore, even if viewed under NRS 48.045(2), the evidence would still be admissible.

CONCLUSION

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